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RAIL HOLDING LIMITED

STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE PREPARATION
AND APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that present fairly

the financial position of Rail Holding Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “"Group”) as at
31 December 2017, and the consolidated results of its operations, cash flows and changes in equity for
the year then ended, in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“"IFRS”).

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for:

Properly selecting and applying accounting policies;
Presenting information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable,
comparable and understandable information;

Providing additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs is
insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and
conditions on the Group’s consolidated financial position and financial performance;

Making an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Management is also responsible for:

Designing, implementing and maintaining an effective and sound system of internal controls,
throughout the Group;

Maintaining adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group's
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the consolidated financial position
of the Group, and which enable them to ensure that the consolidated financial statements of the

Group comply with IFRS;
Maintaining statutory accounting records in compliance with local legislation and accounting
standards in the respective jurisdictions in which the Group operates;

Taking such steps as are reasonably available to them to safeguard the assets of the Group; and
Preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 were
approved and authorised for issue by Management on 30 June 2018.

On behalf of the Management:

Qe

Stelios Loizou
Director
Rail Holding Limited
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| AD «flenciT v Tyw CHIM»
yn Nlecran, 4 5
@ MocxBa, 125047,
Pocoun
Ten. +7 (495) 787 06 00

AYOAUTOPCKOE 3AKJTHOMEHUE @axc +7 (495) 787 06 01
HE3ABUCUMOIO AYAANTOPA deloitte ru

AkuuoHepy u CoseTy aupekTopos Peitn Xonauur lumuren
MHeHue c OroBopko#

Mbi NnpoBenu ayanuT npunaraeMoil KOHCONMAUPOBAHHOM (PUHAHCOBOW OTHETHOCTH Peitn
Xonauur Numuten («Mpynna»), cocTosleid U3 KOHCONMANPOBAHHOIC OTYeTa 0 PUHAHCOBOM
NONOXEHUU MO COCTORHMIO Ha 31 aekabps 2017 roaa, KOHCONMAUPOBAHHOTO OTYETa O
npubbinax u ybbiTKax U NpoYyeM COBOKYNHOM AOXOAE, KOHCONMAUPOBAHHOro oT4eTa ob
M3MEHEHUAX B KanuTane U KOHCONMMAUPOBAHHOMO OTYETa O ABMXEHUU AEHEeXHbIX CPeacTs
3a 2017 roa, a TaKxe npuMeyaHuin K PUHAHCOBOW OTHETHOCTH, BKNIOHAA KpaTKuit 063op
OCHOBHbIX MONOXEHWIA YHETHOW NONUTUKM.

Mo HaweMy MHEeHUIO, 38 UCKNIOYEHMEM BUSHUA BONPOCa, U3NIOXEHHOro B pasaene
«OCHOBaHNE AN BbIPaXEHNS MHEHUS C OrOBOPKOH» HAWero ayAUTOPCKOro 3aKIO4eHUS,

Ha conocTasMMble NoKasaTenu, NpunaraeMas KOHCONMAMPOBaHHaR (PUHAHCOBAA OTYETHOCTb
OTpaxXaeT AOCTOBEPHO BO BCeX CYLIECTBEHHbIX acnekTax KOHCoONManpoBaHHoe puHaHcoBoe
rnonoxewxue Mpynnbl No cocToaHMio Ha 31 aekabps 2017 roaa, a Takxe ee
KOHCONMANPOBaHHbIe PUHAHCOBbIE Pe3yNnbTaTbl U KOHCONMAUPOBAHHOE ABMXEHUE AEHEXHbIX
cpeacTs 3a 2017 roa B COOTBETCTBUM C MexAyHapoAHbIMK CTaHAapTaMu GUHaHCOBOM
oTyeTHoCTH («MCOO»},

OcCHOBaHMe AN BbipaXeHW MHEHUS C OFrOBOPKOW

Kak packpbiTo B MosicHeHUn 17 K npunaraeMon KOHCONUANPOBaHHOM PUHAHCOBOWM
OTYETHOCTH, NO COCTOAHMIO Ha 31 aekabps 2016 roaa oaHa M3 KoMNaHui Mpynnbl Hapywuna
OAHO 13 ob6s3aTenbHbiX GUHAHCOBbLIX OrpaHMYeHnit (KOBEHaHTOB), YCTaHOBNEHHbIX
KpeauTHbIM AoroBopoM ¢ AO «Anbga-6aHk». HeBbiNONHEHWE YKAa3aHHOro KOBEHaHTa
npeanonaraeT NpUMeHeHue WTpadHbIX CAHKUMIA K KOMNaHUU-3aeMLUUKY, B TOM Yucne faert
npaso KpeauTopy TpeboBaTb AOCPOYHbINA BO3BpAaT A€HEXHbIX CPEACTB No KpeauTy. Mocne
31 pexabps 2016 roaa Mpynno# 6b10 NOANMCAHO AONONHUTENbHOE cornaiueHme ¢ 6aHKoM,
B COOTBETCTBMM C KOTOPbIM Ha4yano o6R3aTenbHOro BbiNONHEHNUA PUHAHCOBOro OrpaHUyYeHus
6bin0 nepeHeceHo ¢ 4-ro kBapTan 2016 roga Ha 1-bii kBapTan 2017 roaa (MosicHeHue 17).
PykosoacTso Mpynnbl OLEeHNN0 BEepOSTHOCTL TpeboBaHMa AOCPOYHOro NoralweHus Kpeaura
€O CTOpPOHbI 6aHKa Kak HU3KYI0, U No cocTosiHMio Ha 31 aekabps 2016 roga oTpasuno 4acrb
yKasaHHoro kpeauta 8 cymme 313 353 Toic. gonnapos CLUA B cocTase 40NrOCPOYHbIX
o6R3aTenbCcTe, B COOTBETCTBMMU CO CPOKAMM NOralleHus, NpeaycMOTPEHHbBIMKU YCNOBUAMU
Aorosopa. Mo HaweMy MHEHUIO, B COOTBETCTBUM ¢ TpeboBaHuaMu MCOO (IAS) 1
«lpeacrasneHne puHaAHCOBOW OTHETHOCTU» Mpynna AonxHa 6bina knaccudpuumposatb
AaHHble 0653aTenbCTBa NO KPeAUTaM Kak KpaTKOCPOYHbIe, MOCKoNbKY Ha 31 aekabps

2016 roaa y Mpynnbl He 6bl10 6e3ycnoBHOro Npasa OTAOXKMUTL UX NOTralleHUe Ha CpPoK,
COCTaBNRIOWMUN He MeHee 12 MecsiLeB Nocne yKasaHHOW AaThbl.

Mbl Bblpasnnu MOAMPULMPOBAHHOE ayAUTOPCKOE MHEHUE O KOHCONMANPOBAHHOW (PUHAHCOBOM
oTyeTHOCTM 3a 2016 roa, B CBA3M C yKasaHHOM cUTyauuei. Hawe MHeHue O
KOHCONMAUPOBaHHOW PUHAHCOBOM OTHETHOCTU 3@ OTHETHbIM NepUoAa TaKxe MoAUPUUMPOBAHO
B CBA3M C BIMAHWEM AAHHOro BONpoOCca Ha CONOCTAaBUMOCTb NoKasaTenen TeKyLlero u

NPOLLNIOro OTYETHBIX NEPUOAOB.

Mbl NpoBenu ayauT B COOTBETCTBMM C MexayHapoAHbIMY cTaHaapTamMu ayauta («MCA»).
Hawwu 0683aHHOCTH B COOTBETCTBUM C 3TUMM CTaHAapTaMu yKasaHbl B pasgene
«OTBETCTBEHHOCTb ayAUTOPA 33 ayAUT HDUHAHCOBOW OTYETHOCTU» HALEro 3aKnio4YeHusa. Mol
He3aBUCUMbI NO OTHOLWEHMIO K Mpynne B cooTBeTCTBUM € KOAEKCOM 3TUKKU NpodeccuoHanbHbix
6yxrantepos CoBeTa No MexayHapoAHbIM CTaHAapTaM 3TUKKU Ans Byxrantepos («Kogekc») u
aTuyeckuMu TpeboBaHUAMU, NPUMEHMMBIMK K ayAUTY PUHAHCOBOM OTYETHOCTH B POCCHMIACKOM
®eaepauun. HaMy TaloKe BbINONHEHbI NPoYKMe 3TUYECKMEe 06R3aHHOCTH, YCTAHOBNEHHbIe
3TuMu TpebosaHuamu u KoaekcoM. Mbl nonaraem, YTo NONy4MNM AOCTaTOYHbIE M Haanexalue
ayAuWTOpPCKME AOKa3aTeNnbCTBa ANA BbIPaXeHUs MHEHUS C OroOBOPKOW.

HaNVEnOBaHME «[JEN0HTs OTHOCHTIS £ QAHOMY AHE0 AHOBOMY KOMIELTEY OPNAMHECKN ML BIMONAR HX SSFWVIDOBAHIE NALA COBMECTHO BIORRLYX B «Aen0iT Tyw: Towauy Mwress
HECTHYMO KOMNAHMD C OTBETCTEEHROCTING YHACTIINOS 8 rAPANTIROSAHHEX UMK NDEAEASX, SAPETHCTRVPOSAMHYO B COOTSRTCTEM € 3AXOHOAATENLCTAON BenmodpuTasay (anee — ATT/)
Ka¥Z0€ TI0E IOPUAINECIDS MVUO RAMETIR CAMCCTORTENDHEM |t HESABUCIMLM OPARMVECOM NUOM. ATT/] (TACKE MVEMH/SMaR «uexQyNEPOLHER CETh «JEN0UTs) HE NPEAOCTARNRET yCRyTH
KAMEHTEM HANDEUYO. NOZDOEHAR MREODMSLHR © ODHANNECKDR CTRYXTYRE AT/ 1 BXOARUYI B HES ICDAGMSETHN ML NPEACTAZAEHA HE CAITE Ww. CEIOMTE COMVabOout

© AD «fiencit » Tyw Crifs. Bee npasa sauptusna
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Ba)kHbie ob6croaTenbcrea

Mbl npuBnekaeM BHUMaHue K:

° MosicHeHMio 27, rae packpbiTo, YTo 69% akTuBoB U 79% obssaTenbcTs 6binu
npeacTasneHbl pacyeTaMy CO CBRA3aHHbIMKM CTOPOHAaMU. 3TO He NpPUBENo K MoauduKaumum
Halero MHeHUA.

o MosicHeHMo 30 K KOHCONMANPOBAHHON (PUHAHCOBOM OTYETHOCTU, B KOTOPOM
ONUCbIBAETCA HeonpeAeneHHOCTb B OTHOWEHUM ucxoaa cyaebHoro pasbupartenscrsa
Mexay MAO «HIMK OBK» (KoHe4YHan KOHTponupyolas ctopora Mpynnbl) 4 psaoM
akuuoHepoe (MAO «HIMK OBK») B oTHoweHuu npasa TpebosaTtb oT MAO «HIMK OBK»
BblKyna nNpuHagnexatmx uM akum. B cnyvae HebnaronpuaTHoro cyaebHOro peleHns,
y Fpynnbl MOXeT BO3HUKHYTb Heob6xoaAnMOCTb NpeaocTaBneHns puHaHcuposanua MNAO
«HMK OBK» ansA ocylwecTs/ieHUs BbiKyna. 2To He NpuBeno K MoanduKaumMm Hawero
MHEHMA.

OTBEeTCTBEHHOCTb PYKOBOACTBA M /1ML, OTBEYalOLWMUX 33 KOpnopaTueHoe ynpasneHue,
338 KOHCONMMAWPOBAaHHYO CbHHaHCOBYIO OTHYEeTHOCTDL

PyKOBOACTBO OTBEYaeT 3@ NOArOTOBKY U AOCTOBEpPHOE NpeAcCTaB/ieHne KOHCONUANPOBaHHOM
$UHAHCOBOW OTYETHOCTH B COOTBETCTBUMU € MCDO M 3a CUCTEMY BHYTPEHHEero KOHTpoNns,
KOTOPYIO PYKOBOACTBO cYMUTaeT HeobXxoAWMOi ANA NOArOTOBKU KOHCONMANPOBAHHOM
$UHAHCOBOM OTHETHOCTH, He coaepXKalllei CYLLEeCTBEHHbIX UCKaXeHu BcneacTeme
HenobpocoBeCTHbIX AEUCTBUIA UK ownbokK.

Mpy NOAroTOBKE KOHCONMANPOBAHHOM UHAHCOBOM OTUYETHOCTU PYKOBOACTEO OTBEYaeT 3a
oueHKy crnocobHocTH Mpynnbl HENpepbIBHO NPOAC/KATL AEATENbHOCTb, 3@ pacKkpbiTHe B
COOTBETCTBYIOWMX CNyYasX CBEAEHWUM, OTHOCALUMXCS K HENpPepbiBHOCTU AGATENbHOCTH, U 32
COCTaBNeHne OTYETHOCTU Ha OCHOBE AONYLUEHUS O HeNpepbiBHOCTH AeATeNbHOCTH, 3a
MCKNIOYEHWEM CrlyyaeB, KOraa pyKoBOACTBO HaMepeBaeTcs NMKeuauposaTs Mpynny,
NpeKpaTuTb ee AeATeNbHOCTb UM KOrAa Y PyKOBOACTBA OTCYTCTBYET nNpakTuyeckas
anbTepHaTUBa NMKBMAALMKM MAW NPEKPaLLEeHNIO AesTeNbHOCTH Mpynnbl.

Jluuya, oTBevaolMe 32 KOPNOpPaTUBHOE yNpaBneHne, OTBEYAIOT 32 HaA30p 3a NOArOTOBKOMK
KOHCONMANPOBaHHOW PUHAHCOBOM OTHeTHOCTH Mpynnbl.

OTBeTCTBEHHOCTb ayAUTOPa 33 ayAWUT KOHCONMAUPOBaHHOK (PMHAHCOBOM OTYETHOCTH

Halwa uenb cocToUT B NONYYEHUU Pa3yMHON YBEPEHHOCTH, YTO KOHCONMANPOBaHHAR
hrHaHCOBas OTYETHOCTb HE COAEPXMUT CYLUECTBEHHbIX UCKaXeHWH BcneacTeme
HenobpOoCOBECTHbIX AeNCTBUM UK OWKBOK, U B BbiNyCKe ayAUTOPCKOro 3aKnioHeHus,
coiepXallero Halwe MHeHue. PasyMHas yBepeHHOCTb - 3TO BbICOKAs CTeneHb yBePeHHOCTH,
HO OHa He rapaHTUpyeT, YTO ayAuT, NpoBeAeHHbl B COOTBETCTBMM ¢ MCA, BCeraa BbIABUT
CYLECTBEHHbIE UCKAXEHUR NPU UX HaNUYUKU. UIcKaxeHUA MOryT 6biTb pe3ynbTaToM
HenobpoCcoBeCTHbIX AGUCTBMIA UK OWMNBOK M CHMTAIOTCH CYLUECTBEHHbIMU, €C/TU MOXHO
060CHOBaHHO NPEANONOXUTD, HYTO B OTAGNBHOCTH UM B COBOKYMHOCTU OHWU MOTyT NOBNMATD
Ha 3KOHOMMUYECKMe pelleHUA Nonb3oBaTenei, NPUHMMaeMble Ha OCHOBE KOHCONMAUPOBAHHOM
¢$pHHAHCOBOWN OTHETHOCTH.

B pamMkax ayauTa, npoBoauMoro B cooTeeTcTenm ¢ MCA, Mbl NnpuMeHaeM npodeccuoHanbHoe
Cy)XXAEeHUe U coxpaHaeM NpodeccMoHaNnbHbi CKENTULM3M Ha NPOTAXEHUU BCEro ayaura.
Kpome TOro, Mol:

o BbifiIBNAEM U OLEHUBAEM PUCKU CYLLECTBEHHOINO MCKaXeHNS KOHCONUAUPOBAHHOM
¢pMHAHCOBOW OTUETHOCTU BCNeACTBUE HeAOOPOCOBECTHbIX AEWCTBMIA MNK OWNBOK;
paspabaTtbiBaeM 1 NPOBOAUM ayAUTOPCKME NPOLEAYPbl B OTBET Ha 3TU PUCKM; Nonyyaem
ayAUTOpPCKME AOKa3aTenbcTea, AOCTATOYHbIE U HaAneXalue ANA BbipaXeHUs Halero
MHEHUA. PUCK HeOBHapyXeHUA CYLLeCTBEHHOro UCKaXeHUA B pesynbTaTte
Heo06pocoBeCcTHbIX ASCTBUIA Bbille, YeM PUCK HeOBHapyXeHUsA CyLIecTBeHHOro
MCKaXeHUs B pesynbTaTte oWwWKOKKU, Tak Kak HeaobpoCOBeCTHbIe AEWCTBUA MOTYT
BK/1lOMaTb CroBOP, NOANOT, YMbILWNEHHbIA NPONYCK, UCKaXeHHOe NpeaCTaBneHue
nHdopMauumn unu aAencTens B 06xoA AEWUCTBYIOLWEN CUCTeMbl BHYTPEHHEro KOHTPOns.
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e [onyyaeM NOHMMaHWe BHYTPEHHUX KOHTPONEN, 3HaUUMbIX ANSA ayauTa, € Lenblo
paspaboTku ayAUTOPCKUX Npoueayp, COOTBETCTBYIOWMX OBCTOATENbCTBAM, HO He C Lenbio
BblpaXeHUs MHeHUA 06 23 PEeKTUBHOCTH CUCTEMbI BHYTPEHHEro KOHTponsa Mpynnbl.

o OueHuBaeM Haanexalunii xapakTep NpUMEHAEMON yYETHOM NONUTUKKN U 060CHOBAHHOCTD
6yxranTepckux OLEeHOK ¥ COOTBETCTBYIOLEro packpbiTs MHpOpMaLMH,

NOAroTOB/NIEHHOro PyYKOBOACTBOM.

° OenaemM BbiBOA © NPaBOMEPHOCTH NPUMEHEHUA PYKOBOACTBOM AONYLEHUS O
HENpPepbIBHOCTY AEATENbHOCTH, @ HA8 OCHOBAHMMU NONTYHYEHHbIX ayAUTOPCKUX
AOKa3aTeNbCTB - BbIBOA O HANNYMUM CYLLECTBEHHOW HeonpeaeneHHoCTU B CBA3M C
COBbITUAMKU UNU YCNOBUAMYU, B pe3ynbTaTe KOTOPbIX MOTYT BO3HUKHYTb 3HaYyuTeNbHble
COMHEeHUs B cnocobHocTH Mpynnbl HEeNpepbiBHO NPOAC/IXKaTL AEATENIbHOCTb. Ecnun Mbi
NPUXOAUM K BbIBOAY O HANM4YMK CYLLECTBEHHON HeonpeaeneHHOCTU, Mbl BONXKHbI
B HalleM ayAUTOPCKOM 3aKNIOYEHMU NPUB/IEYb BHUMAHUE K COOTBETCTBYIOLWEMY
PacKpbITHIO MHPOPMaLMK B KOHCONMANMPOBAHHON (PUHAHCOBOW OTHETHOCTH MK,

B Cy4ae HeHaanexallero packpeitua, MoanduuuposaTe MHeHVe. Hawwu BbiBOAbI
OCHOBbIBAIOTCA Ha ayAMTOPCKUX AOKA3aTeNbCTBAX, NONYYEHHbIX A0 AaTbl ayAUTOPCKOro
3aKknoyeHns. OpHako, Gyaywine cobbiITUA MNKM YCNOBHUA MOTYT NPUBECTHU K yTpaTe
Fpynnow cnocob6HOCTH HeNpepbiBHO NPOAOCNXaTb AEATENIbHOCTb.

° MpoBoAMM OUEHKY NpeACTaBNeHUs KOHCONMAUPOBAHHON PUHAHCOBOM OTYETHOCTU

B LENIOM, ee CTPYKTYpPbl M COAepXaHUA, BKIIOYan packpbiTue MHdopMaumm, a Takxe
obecneyeHUn AOCTOBEPHOCTU NPeACTABNEHUA NieXaluuX B ee OCHOBe onepauuii 1

cobbiTuit,

Mbl MHOPMUPYEM NULL, OTBEYAIOLIMX 33 KOPNOPaTMBHOE yNpasneHue, O 3annaHupoBaHHOM
obbeMe u cpokax ayauTa, a TakKe O CyllecTBeHHbIX NpobnemMax, BbiABNAEHHbIX B XOAe ayAuTa,
B TOM YUC/Ne O 3HAYUTENbHbIX HEAOCTATKaX CUCTEMbl BHYTPEHHEro KOHTPONS.

Erop MeTtenkuH
PykoBoauTenn 3agaHms

ety 75 £

30 nioHs 2018 roga

KoMnanms: Peitn Xonauur Ninmutes

Conperenccreo o permcrpauynm Ne 006201, soigaro 8
Kanuensipmn Boicoxoro Cyaa 10 anpens 2017 roga

MecTo Haxoxaenmn: KpedArmyp Yembeps, Poya Tayw,
Toprona VG1110, BputaHckue BUPruHCKMe 0CTposa

AyanTopckas oprasmaauna: AO «fenoit n Tyw CHIM»

CBMRETENDCTBO O TOCYZ3aPCTBENHOA PErmcTPaUMK
N? 018.482. soigan0 MOCKOBCKOR PernCTPauMOHHOR
nanavoi 30.10.1992 r.

OCHOBHOM rOCYA3PCTBEHHDIA PErMCTPAUMOHHLIA HOMEp:
1027700425444

CengeTenncreo 0 BHecesuy 3anuck 8 ENPION:
cepun 77 N2 004840299, sbinano 13.11.2002 r.
MexpainonHoi MHcnexymeit MHC Pocomin N2 39
no r. Mocxea.

UYnes camMoperynupyeMoi oprasn3aummu ayauTopos
«Poccmitcxmit Coros ayauTtopos» (Accouynaumn), OPH3
11603080484,
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RAIL HOLDING LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017

(in thousands of US dollars, unless otherwise indicated)

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property and equipment
Prepayments for property and equipment
Other intangible assets
Investment in the joint venture
Deferred tax assets
Loans receivable
Other non-current assets
Finance lease receivables
Total non-current assets

Current assets
Inventories
Prepayments and other current assets
Trade and other accounts receivable
Finance lease receivables
VAT receivable
Loans receivable
Investments in debt securities of a related party
Short-term bank deposits
Restricted cash
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

TOTAL ASSETS

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity and reserves
Share capital
Additional paid-in capital
Currency translation reserve
Retained earnings
Total equity and reserves

Non-current liabilities
Long-term loans and borrowings
Long-term financial lease
Deferred tax liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Short-term financial lease
Short-term loans and borrowings
Advances received from customers
Total current liabilities

Total liabilities

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Notes

oTRoe ow

12

13
10
16
14
14

15
15

17

24

18

17
19

31 December 31 December
2017 2016

423 723 396 921
23 548 5294

4 4

6 032 5 375

2 480 3478

983 124 694 416

6 260 -

3 363 3 540
1448 534 1109028
1003 537

15 198 5311

42 283 43 042
364 294

10 235 821

60 903 44 173

94 208 2 145

87 469 84 636
13924 -

1 964 13 812

327 551 194 771

1776 085

1

1303 799

1

76 057 89 267

(105 633) (104 747)

46 680 40 176

17 105 24 697

1 594 694 1124 056

2276 =

5258 3484

1602 228 1127 540

41 680 13 350
315

76 545 135 536

38 212 2 676

156 752 151 562

1758 980 1279 102

1776 085 1303 799

The accompanying notes on pages 9 to 48 are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements

5

183



RAIL HOLDING LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

(in thousands of US dollars, unless otherwise indicated)

Continuing operations

Revenue

Direct expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Other operating income, net
Related party debt forgiveness
Share of profit of the joint venture
Operating income

Finance income

Finance costs

Foreign exchange gain / (loss), net
Profit / (loss) before income tax
Income tax expense

Profit / (loss) for the year from continuing operations
Discontinued operations

Profit from discontinued operations

PROFIT / (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

Other comprehensive income:

Effect of translation to presentation currency which will not be
reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME / (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

Notes

20
21
22

10

23
23

24

2017 2016
338 319 65 042
(226 619) (37 897)
(7 270) (2 060)

44 1832

(5 227) (317)
367 138

99 614 26 738
98 830 50 805
(178 327) (145 078)
9 074 (25 297)
29 191 (92 832)
(22 687) (1 287)
6 504 (94 119)

- 1336

6 504 (92 783)
(886) 11 589

5 618 (81 194)

The accompanying notes on pages 9 to 48 are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements

6
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RAIL HOLDING LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
(in thousands of US dollars, unless otherwise indicated)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit / (loss) for the year
Adjustments for:
Income tax expense
Gain from sale of railcars as part of the rallcar fleet replacement
programme (Notes 20, 21)
Depreciation and amortization
Foreign exchange (gain) / loss, net
Related party debt forgiveness
Loss on disposal of property and equipment
Change in allowance for doubtful receivables and prepayments
Allowance for obsolete inventory
Share of profit of the joint venture
Deferred income
Gain from disposal of subsidiary (Note 6)
Loss from sale of accounts receivable under cession agreement
Disposal of other intangible assets
Finance costs
Finance income

Operating profit before changes in working capital

Movements in working capital:
(Increase) / decrease in trade and other receivables
(Increase) / decrease in VAT receivable, prepayments and other
current assets
(Increase) / decrease in inventories
Increase / (decrease) in trade and other payables
Increase in advances received from customers

Cash proceed from operating activities

Cash paid for purchase of railcars (Notes 7, 20)

Cash received from the sale of railcars under the railcars fleet
replacement program (Notes 7, 20)

Income tax paid

Finance costs paid

Net cash used in operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Loans granted
Cash proceeds from redemption of loans granted
Placement of short-term deposits
Proceeds from redemption of short-term deposits
Purchase of investments in debt securities of a related party
Proceeds from sale of investments in debt securities of a related party
Net cash inflow/(outflow) on disposal of subsidiaries (Note 6)
Interest received
Purchases of property and equipment, including prepayments
Proceeds from return of prepayments for property and equipment

Net cash used in investing activities

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from loans and borrowings
Repayment of loans and borrowings
Cash deposited in accordance with covenants (Notes 14, 17)
Financial lease payments

Net cash generated by financing activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes including effect of recalculation of
cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

2017 2016
6 504 (92 783)
22 687 1195
(53 686) -
21 011 23 617
(9 074) 25 297
5227 317
744 509
679 (2 768)
493 -
(367) (138)
(39) .
- (2 496)
- 503
- 3
178 327 145 078
(98 830) (50 805)
73676 47 529
(31 660) 7 796
(5 869) 2724
(925) 618
8 956 (11 391)
34 546 46
78 724 47 322
(215 249) -
242 470 -
(16 447) (3 047)
(185 848) (126 767)
(96 350) (82 492)
(344 429) (289 670)
117 328 98 699
(113 817) (74 588)
114 049 -
(89 773) (2 155)
2024 23217
34 507 (384)
28 525 33 191
- (765)
- 117 499
(251 586) (94 956)
760 057 521 802
(412 029) (371 662)
(13 744) -
2 457 -
336 741 150 140
(11 195) (27 308)
13 812 38 261
(653) 2 859
1964 13812

The accompanying notes on pages 9 to 48 are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements
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RAIL HOLDING LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
(in thousands of US dollars, unless otherwise indicated)

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Rail Holding Limited (hereinafter — the "Company”) is a company limited by the law incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands (hereafter referred to as "BVI”) on 30 June 2011.

The Company is registered at Craigmuir Chambers, Road Town, Tortola, British Virgin Islands.
The principal place of business is the territory of the Russian Federation (hereinafter - RF).

The Company is a holding entity for the group of companies (the "Rail Holding Group” or the
“Group”) incorporated in BVI, Cyprus, and the RF. The Group’s primary business involves
purchasing railcars manufactured at Tikhvin Freight Car Manufacturing Plant (hereinafter - 1SC
“TVSZ"), an entity under common control with the Group, and selling as well as leasing them to
its customers, which are mostly represented by transportation and manufacturing companies
operating within the RF. The Group also enters into financing and investing transactions with
entities under common control through its subsidiary Rail1520 Finance Cyprus Ltd, being
effectively a finance centre of a wider RPC UWC Group.

Since 22 December 2014 PJSC «Research and Production Corporation «United Wagon Company»
(hereinafter - PISC "RPC UWC") has been the sole shareholder of the Company. As at

31 December 2017 PISC "RPC UWC" held a controlling interest in the Company. PJSC "RPC UWC”
produces consolidated financial statements available for public use, which disclose the ultimate
controlling party of PJSC RPC UWC and the Company.

Information about the Company’s subsidiaries and their principal activities is set out below:

Nature of Country of 31 December 31 December
Subsidiaries business incorporation 2017 2016
Operating lease
and resale of Russian
LLC "Rail1520" railcars Federation 100% 100%
Operating lease Russian
LLC "Rail1520 Service” of railcars Federation 100% 100%
Holding of
Cyprus
Rail 1520 (BVI) Ltd subsidiaries BVI 100% 100%
Holding of
Cyprus
Rail 1520 Service (BVI) Ltd subsidiaries BVI 100% 100%
Holding of
Russian
Rail 1520 Cyprus Ltd subsidiaries Cyprus 100% 100%
Holding of
Russian
Rail 1520 Service Cyprus Ltd subsidiaries Cyprus 100% 100%
Rail 1520 Finance Cyprus Ltd Financing Cyprus 100% 100%
Rail 1520 Service Finance Cyprus
Ltd Financing Cyprus 100% 100%
Holding of
Cyprus
Rail 1520 (BVI) Leasing Ltd subsidiaries BVI 100% 100%
Holding of
Russian
Rail 1520 Cyprus Leasing Ltd subsidiaries Cyprus 100% 100%
Finance lease of Russian
LLC "Rail 1520 Leasing” railcars Federation 100% 100%
Investment
Rail 1520 Wagon Ltd company BVI 100% 100%
Investment
Rail 1520 Wagon Cyprus Ltd company Cyprus 100% 100%
Finance lease of Russian
LLC "UWC TP" railcars Federation 100% 100%
9
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RAIL HOLDING LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
(in thousands of US dollars, unless otherwise indicated)

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS").

Basis of preparation

The entities of the Group maintain their accounting records in accordance with laws, accounting
and reporting regulations of the jurisdictions in which they are incorporated and registered.
The accounting principles and financial reporting procedures in these jurisdictions may differ
substantially from those generally accepted under IFRS. Accordingly, financial statements of
the entities of the Group were adjusted to ensure that they are presented in accordance with
IFRS.

These consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared on the historical cost
basis except for certain financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for
goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in

an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when
pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for leasing transactions that are within the scope of IAS 17, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realizable value in IAS 2 or value
in use in IAS 36.

In addition, for consolidated financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are
categorized into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in
its entirety, which are described as follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the Company can access at the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Going concern

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the assumption that the Group
will continue as a going concern in the foreseeable future, which implies the realization of assets
and settlement of liabilities in the normal course of business.

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional
currency”). The functional currency of the Group’s key subsidiaries is the national currency of the
Russian Federation, Russian Ruble ("RUB"). The functional currency of the Company is Russian

Ruble.

10
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RAIL HOLDING LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
(in thousands of US dollars, unless otherwise indicated)

The presentational currency of the consolidated financial statements is the US Dollar. These
consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of US Dollars ( hereinafter, "USD"),
unless stated otherwise. The results and financial position of the Group are translated into the
presentation currency using the following procedures:

o Assets and liablilities for each consolidated statement of financial position presented are
translated at the closing rate as at the reporting date of that statement of financial position;

° Recurring income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, whereas significant non-recurring income and expense items are translated at the
exchange rates as at the date of transaction;

. Equity items are translated at historical exchange rates;

° All resulting exchange differences are recognized as a separate component of equity and
reserves.

Exchange rates used in the translation were as follows:

Currency 2017 2016

At the end of the reporting period

RUB/ USD 57.60 60.65
RUB/ EUR 68.86 63.81
Average exchange rate for the reporting period

RUB/ USD 58.35 67.03
RUB/ EUR 65.90 74.23

Foreign currency transactions

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the entity's functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognized at the rates of
exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which
they arise.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and
entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries) prepared through December 31 of each year.

Control is achieved when the Company:

. Has power over the investee;
s Is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns of the investee; and

° Has the ability to use its power to affect variable returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances
indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over
the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct

the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Company considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company’s voting rights in an investee are

sufficient to give it power, including:

B The size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of
holdings of other vote holders;
o Potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;

11
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RAIL HOLDING LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
(in thousands of US dollars, unless otherwise indicated)

. Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

. Any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not
have, the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be
made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders' meetings.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from
the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. Intragroup balances and any
unrealized gains and losses or income and expenses arising from intragroup transactions, are
eliminated in preparing the consclidated financial statements.

Non-controlling interest in consolidated subsidiaries is identified separately from the Group’s
equity therein. Total comprehensive income / (loss) is attributed to non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of
the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognized directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group ceases to have control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity
is remeasured to its fair value, with the change in carrying amount recognized in profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.

The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for

the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognized in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for
as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that
amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealized losses are also eliminated to the extent they do not
represent an impairment loss on the Group’s non-current assets. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the Group.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of
the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by

the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognized in profit
or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognized
at their fair value, except that:

° Deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognized and measured in accordance with IAS 12 and IAS 19,
respectively;

o Liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of
the acquiree or share-based payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 2

at the acquisition date; and
o Assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS S are
measured in accordance with that Standard.

12
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RAIL HOLDING LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
(in thousands of US dollars, unless otherwise indicated)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to

a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially
measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of

the recognized amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement
basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another IFRS.

Contingent consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination is measured at fair
value at the date of acquisition and included in the total consideration transferred in a business
combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify

as measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding
adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from
additional information obtained during the ‘'measurement pericd’ (which cannot exceed one year
from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do
not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is
classified. The contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured

at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates in accordance with IAS 39 or IAS 37 with the corresponding gain or loss being
recognized in profit or loss.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting
period in which the combination occurs, the Company reports provisional amounts for the items
for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during

the measurement period, or additional assets or liabilities are recognized, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that,

if known, would have affected the amounts recognized at that date.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of
acquisition of the business less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interest in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held
equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amounts of the identifiable assets and
liabilities as at the acquisition date. If, after reassessment, the net amounts of the identifiable
assets and liabilities exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held interest in
the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognized immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain,

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually,
or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to
the other assets of the unit pro rata based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any
impairment loss for goodwill is recognized directly in profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. An impairment loss recognized for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included
in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

Investments in associates and joint ventures
An entity is considered an associate if the Group has significant influence over its financial and

operating activities. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.
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RAIL HOLDING LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
(in thousands of US dollars, unless otherwise indicated)

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of

the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is

the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures are incorporated in these
consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting, except when

the investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with
IFRS 5. Under the equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognize the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate
or joint venture. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds

the Group’s interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate or joint venture),

the Group discontinues recognizing its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognized
only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from
the date on which the investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of

the investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognized as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over
the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognized immediately in profit or loss in
the period in which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of IAS 39 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognize any
impairment loss with respect to the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint venture. Any
impairment loss recognized forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of
that impairment loss is recognized in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable
amount of the investment subsequently increases.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases
to be an associate or a joint venture, or when the investment is classified as held for sale. When
the Group reduces an interest in the former associate or joint venture and the retained interest is
a financial asset, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair
value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment in an associate becomes
an investment in a joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in
an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a joint venture but the Group
continues to use the equity method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of
the gain or loss that had previously been recognized in other comprehensive income relating to
that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on
the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of the Group, profits and
losses resulting from the transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognized in

the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or
joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Property and equipment

Items of property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, If any.

Repair and maintenance costs are charged to expenses when incurred. Costs for replacement of
major assemblies or components of property, plant and equipment are capitalised and the
replaced parts are retired.
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RAIL HOLDING LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
(in thousands of US dollars, unless otherwise indicated)

The following useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation.
Useful life, years

Railcars 20-40
Other fixed assets 1-30

Depreciation is recognized so as to write off the cost of assets (other than properties under
construction) less their residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
the disposal or retirement of an item of property and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in profit or

loss.
Impairment of tangible assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-current assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where It is not possible to estimate

the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in-use. In assessing
value in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and

the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been

adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is recognized immediately in the consolidated profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-
generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that

the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior
years. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognized immediately in the consolidated profit or

loss.
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets of the Group are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets
‘at fair value through profit or loss’ (hereinafter - "FVTPL") and ‘loans and receivables’. The
classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the
time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace. As at 31 December 2016 and 2015 debt securities in related parties
were classified as financial assets at FTPL.
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RAIL HOLDING LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
(in thousands of US dollars, unless otherwise indicated)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognized immediately in profit or loss.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or
a financial liability (or group of financial assets or financial liabilities) and of allocating the interest
income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts (including all fees paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter
period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability at initial recognition.

Financial assets at FTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial asset is (i) contingent consideration
that may be paid by an acquirer as part of a business combination to which IFRS 3 applies,
(ii) held for trading, or (iii) it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on
remeasurement recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the ‘other
gains and losses’ line item.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. Such assets are carried at amortized cost using the
effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognized in the consolidated profit or loss
when the loans and receivables are derecognized or impaired, as well as through the amortization
process. Interest income is recognized by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-
term receivables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost and include cash on hand and bank
deposits with initial maturities of three months or less. Amounts with restrictions over their
availability of use are not included in the cash and cash equivalents.

Impairment of financial assets

The financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result
of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the investment have been affected. For financial assets carried at
cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the
current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. The carrying amount of the financial
asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of trade
receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account
(provision for impairment of receivables).
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RAIL HOLDING LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
(in thousands of US dollars, unless otherwise indicated)

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss for assets carried at amortized cost
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss and
other comprehensive income to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the date
the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortized cost would have been had the

impairment not been recoegnized.
Derivative financial instruments

The Group enters into derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to foreign
exchange rate risks, e.g. by purchasing foreign exchange forward contracts from the financial
institutions. Derivative financial assets and liabilities are stated at fair value, with any gains or
losses arising on remeasurement recognized in profit or loss.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including borrowings and trade and other payables) are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Lease

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance
of the arrangement at the inception date, specifically, on whether the fulfillment of the
arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement conveys

a right to use the asset.

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

The Group as lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognized as receivables at the amount of
the Group’s net investment in the leases. Finance lease income Is allocated to accounting periods
so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment outstanding in
respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized on a straight-line basis over the

lease term.
Group as a lessee

Assets under finance leases are recognized as assets at the inception of the lease at the fair value
of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The
corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the statement of financial position as a finance

lease obligation.
Share capital and additional paid-in capital

Contributions to charter capital are recognized at cost. Additional capital represents the amount
of additional contributions received from the shareholders and entities under common control with

the Company.

Costs directly attributable to the issue of new equity instruments are deducted from equity net of
any related income taxes.

17

195



RAIL HOLDING LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
(in thousands of US dollars, unless otherwise indicated)

Revenue and interest income recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents
amounts receivable for goods and services provided in the normal course of business, net of value
added taxes, estimated rebates and discounts. The revenue is recognized in the amount which is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group, the
amount of revenue can be measured reliably.

(i) Sales of railcars

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized when significant risks and rewards incidental to
ownership are transferred to the customers, at which time all the following conditions are
satisfied:

. The Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the
railcars;

° The Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually
associated with ownership nor effective control over the railcars sold;

© The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

o It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group;
and

o The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

(ii) Rental income

Rental income is generated principally from leasing of railcars and is recognized on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease.

The Group policy in recognition of rental income as a lessor is described in “Leases” paragraph of
this note.

(iii) Interest income

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive payment
has been established (provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably).

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income
Is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which Is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are
capitalized and amortized over the useful life of the asset.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Government grants
Group receives the following types of government grants:

. compensation of interest expense on bank loans;

o grants related to assets, that is - compensation of expenses for acquisition of long-term
assets (railcars) and compensation of expenses for purchase of materials for production of

railcars.
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Government grants are recognized at their fair value when there is a reasonable assurance that
the grant will be received and the Group will comply with the conditions attached.

Government grants related to compensation of interest expense are credited to profit or loss over
the periods of the related interest expense unless the interest was capitalized into the cost of
property, plant and equipment in which case they are deducted from the cost of the respective
items of property, plant and equipment and credited to the profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the expected lives of these assets.

Government grants related to assets are deducted from the carrying value of the related asset in
the consolidated statement of financial position. Grants are recognized in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the period of use of a depreciated asset and reduce the amount of
depreciation expense, or are recognized immediately in profit or loss if the related asset is sold or

disposed of.
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the preliminary consolidated financial information and the corresponding tax bases
used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognized for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognized if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only
recognized to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which
to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available

to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period in which the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The measurement
of deferred tax liabilities and assets refiects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities

on a net basis.
Current and deferred tax for the period

Current and deferred tax are recognized as an expense or income In profit or loss, except when
they relate to items that are recognized outside profit or loss (whether in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity), in which case the tax is also recognized outside profit or loss, or
where they arise from the initial accounting for a business combination. In the case of a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.
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Provisions

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

Offsetting

Financial assets or liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement
of financial position only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the

liability simultaneously.

Employee benefits

The Russian companies of the Group are obliged to make defined contributions to the State
Pension Fund of the Russian Federation in accordance with the effective Russian legislation.
Contributions to the Pension Fund of the Russian Federation related to a defined contribution plan
are recognized in the profit or loss in the period to which they relate.

In the Russian Federation all payments to extra-budgetary funds including contributions to the
State Pension Fund are collected through social security charges calculated by the application of a
rate from 10% to 30% to the annual gross remuneration of each employee. The rate of the
contribution to the State Pension Fund of the Russian Federation varies from 10% to 22%. If the
annual gross remuneration of an employee exceeds the limit of RUB 796 thousand (2016 limit)
the rate of 10% is applied to the excess amount to determine the amount of the respective
contributions.

Contractual commitments

Contractual commitments comprise legally binding trading or purchase agreements with stated
amount, price and date or dates in the future. The Group discloses significant contractual
commitments in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Contingencies

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements unless they arise
as a result of 2 business combination. Contingencies attributed to specific events are disclosed
unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.
Contingent assets are not recognized in the financial statements but are disclosed when an inflow

of economic benefits is probable.

NEW OR REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STATEMENTS

New and revised Standards and Interpretations adopted in the current period and
applicable to the Group’s consolidated financial statements

The following new and revised Standards and Interpretations have been adopted in the current
period and have affected the amounts reported in these consolidated financial statements.

o Amendments to IAS 7 - Disclosure Initiative
° Amendments to IAS 12 - Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealized Losses
. Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle - Amendments to IFRS 12.

Amendments to IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

The Group has applied these amendments for the first time in the current year. The amendments
require an entity to provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
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The Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities consist of borrowings and certain other
financial liabilities. A reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of these items is
provided in Note 17. Consistent with the transition provisions of the amendments, the Group has
not disclosed comparative information for the prior period. Apart from the additional disclosure in
Note 17, the application of these amendments has had no impact on the Group's consolidated

financial statements.
Amendments to IAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses

The Group has applied these amendments for the first time in the current year. The amendments
clarify how an entity should evaluate whether there will be sufficient future taxable profits against
which it can utilise a deductible temporary difference.

The application of these amendments has had no impact on the Group's consolidated financial
statements as the Group already assesses the sufficiency of future taxable profits in a way that is
consistent with these amendments.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs - 2014-2016 Cycle

The Group has applied the amendments to IFRS 12 included in the Annual Improvements to
IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle for the first time in the current year. The other amendments included in
this package are not yet mandatorily effective and they have not been early adopted by the
Group (see the list of new and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective below).

IFRS 12 states that an entity need not provide summarised financial information for interests in
subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures that are classified (or included in a disposal group that is
classified) as held for sale. The amendments clarify that this is the only concession from the
disclosure requirements of IFRS 12 for such interests.

The application of these amendments has had no effect on the Group's consolidated financial
statements.

Standards and interpretations that have been issued, but not yet effective.

At the date of authorization of these consolidated financial statements, the following Standards
and Interpretations were in issue but not yet effective, and have not been early adopted in
preparation of these consolidated financial statements:

° IFRS 9 Financial Instruments?;

o IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (and the related Clarifications)?;

B IFRS 16 Leases?;

. IFRS 17 Financial Instruments?;

3 IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration®;

° IFRIC 23 Uncertainty Over Income Tax Treatments?;

B Amendments to IFRS 2 - Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment
Transactions?;

° Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 - Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venturet;

o Amendments to IAS 40 - Transfers of Investment Property* ;

° Amendments to IFRS 4 - Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance
Contracts ! ;

. Amendments to IFRS 9 - Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation?;

. Amendments to IAS 28 - Long-Term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures?;

. Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle!;

. Annual Improvements to IFRS for 2015-20173;

! effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with earlier application permitted.
2 gffective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with earlier application permitted.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2021, with earlier application permitted.
4 Effective date will be determined later, earlier application permitted.
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IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 issued in November 2009 introduced new requirements for the classification and
measurement of financial assets. IFRS 9 was subsequently amended in October 2010 to include
requirements for the classification and measurement of financial liabilities and for their
derecognition, and in November 2013 to include the new requirements for general hedge
accounting. In July 2014, IASB issued a finalized version of IFRS 9 mainly to include a)
impairment requirements for financial assets and b) limited amendments to the classification and
measurement requirements by Introducing a ‘fair value through other comprehensive income’
(FVTOCI) measurement category for certain simple debt instruments.

Key requirements of IFRS 9 are:

Classification and measurement of financial assets. All recognized financial assets that
are within the scope of IFRS 9 are required to be subsequently measured at amortized cost
or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are held within a business model whose
objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding are generally
measured at amortized cost. Debt instruments that are held within a business model whose
objective is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets,
and that have contractual terms that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, are generally
measured at FVTOCI. All other debt and equity instruments are measured at their fair
values. In addition, under IFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable election to present
subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognized by an acquirer in a business combination) in other
comprehensive income, with only dividend income generally recognized in profit or loss.

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities. With regard to

the measurement of financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss,
IFRS 9 requires that the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is
attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is presented in other comprehensive
income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the liability's credit risk in other
comprehensive income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss.
Changes in fair value attributable to a financial liability's credit risk are not subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss. Under IAS 39, the entire amount of the change in the fair value
of the financial liability designated as fair value through profit or loss is presented in

the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Impairment. In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS 9 requires an expected
credit loss model, as opposed to an incurred credit loss model under IAS 39. The expected
credit loss model requires an entity to account for expected credit losses and changes in
those expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition. In other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have
occurred before credit losses are recognized.

Hedge accounting. The new hedge accounting requirements retain the three types of
hedging relationship as defined in IAS 39. Under IFRS 9, greater flexibility has been
introduced to the types of transactions eligible for hedge accounting, specifically broadening
the types of instruments that qualify for hedging instruments and the types of risk
components of non-financial items that are eligible for hedge accounting. In addition,

the effectiveness test has been overhauled and replaced with the principle of an ‘economic
relationship’. Retrospective assessment of hedge effectiveness is also no longer required.
Enhanced disclosure requirements about an entity’s risk management activities have also
been introduced.
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The Standard will be effective from January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. Depending on
the chosen approach to applying IFRS 9, the transition can involve one or more than one date of
initial application for different requirements. The full impact of adopting IFRS 9 on the Group's
consolidated financial statements in the year of adoption will depend on the financial instruments
that the Group has during 2018 as well as on economic conditions and judgments made

as at the year end. The Group has selected not to restate comparatives on initial application of
IFRS 9. Based on a preliminary analysis of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities

as at December 31, 2017 on the basis of the facts and circumstances that exist at that date,

the management of the Group has assessed the impact of IFRS 9 to the Group's consolidated
financial statements as follows:

. Classification and measurement. The Group has only financial assets and liabilities which
are measured at amortized cost using effective interest method. Upon adoption of IFRS 9
the Group expects to measure respective financial assets and liabilities on the same basis
as currently adopted under IAS 39.

B Impairment. The Group’s financial assets measured at amortized cost (cash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivable, loans receivable) will be subject to impairment provisions
of IFRS 9. The Group expects to apply the simplified approach to recognize lifetime expected
credit losses for its trade and other accounts receivable and cash and cash equivalents
as required or permitted by IFRS 9. In general, the Group’s management anticipates that
the application of the expected credit loss model under IFRS 9 will result in earlier
recognition of credit losses on financial assets for the respective items and will increase
the amount of loss allowance recognized for these items. However, majority of financial
assets of the Group is either held in financial institutions with stable credit rating or
represented by loans and receivables due from related parties well known to the Group.
Management anticipates that any increase in the amount of loss allowance recognized
following the adoption of IFRS 9 will not be significant.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS 15 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning January 1, 2018, and interim periods
within those periods. IFRS 15 establishes a single comprehensive model for entities to use in
accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers. IFRS 15 will replace all existing
revenue standards, including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction contracts and respective

interpretations.

The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of
promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which
the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. This core principle is
delivered in a five-step model framework:

° Step 1: Identify the contract with the customer;

. Step 2: 1dentify the performance obligations in the contract;

° Step 3: Determine the transaction price;

@ Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contracts;
° Step 5: Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

Under IFRS 15, an entity recognizes revenue when or as a performance obligation is satisfied,
i.e. when ‘control’ of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive guidance has been added in IFRS 15 to deal
with specific scenarios. Furthermore, IFRS 15 requires extensive disclosures.

In April 2016, the IASB issued Clarifications to IFRS 15 in relation to the identification of
performance obligations, principal versus agent considerations, as well as licensing application
guidance.
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The Group will not apply a fully retrospective approach upon transition to IFRS 15 and will book
cumulative impact of transition as an adjustment to retained earnings at January 1, 2018.

The Group continues to evaluate the impact that IFRS 15 and related clarifications will have on
the Group's consolidated financial statements. As discussed in Note 1, the Group recognizes
revenue mainly from sales of railcars produced by the Group’s companies and operating and
finance lease of railcars. As at the date of approval of the consolidated financial statements,

the Group’s management was in the process of assessing the impact of the application of IFRS 15
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements and
accounting treatments for both lessors and lessees. IFRS 16 will supersede the current lease
guidance including IAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations when it becomes effective.

IFRS 16 distinguishes leases and service contracts on the basis of whether an identified asset is
controlled by a customer. The standard introduces a single accounting model for lessees that
requiring recognition of the capitalized right to use the asset, as well as the corresponding
liability, on the balance sheet. Thus, distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are
removed for lessee accounting. This accounting method is applicable for all leases except for
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost (subject to
certain exception) less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any
measurement of the lease liability. The lease liability Is initially measured at the present value of
the lease payments that are not paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for
interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of lease modifications, amongst others.
Furthermore, the classification of cash flows will also be affected as operating lease payments
under IAS 17 are presented as operating cash flows, whereas under IFRS 16 model, the lease
payments will be split into a principal and an interest portion which will be presented as financing
and operating cash flows respectively.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures in the consolidated financial statements are required by
IFRS 16.

IFRS 16 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning January 1, 2019, and interim periods
within those periods. Early application of IFRS 16 is permitted.

The Group has begun evaluating and planning for the adoption and implementation of the new
leases standard, including selecting lease accounting system and estimating the overall
accounting policy and financial statements impact.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management
is required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate Is revised if the revision

affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

Critical accounting estimates

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.
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Related party transactions

In the normal course of business the Group enters into transactions with its related parties.
Identification of related parties requires the application of management’s professional judgment.
Management believes that the related party disclosures in these consolidated financial statements
provide all information necessary to attract attention to the potential effect of the Group’s
transactions and outstanding balances with related parties on Group’s financial position and
financial performance (Note 27).

IAS 39 requires initial recognition of financial instruments based on their fair values. Judgment is
applied in determining if transactions are priced at market or non-market interest rates, where
there is no active market for such transactions. The basis for judgement is market rates for similar
types of transactions with unrelated parties and analysis of effective interest rates. Terms and
conditions of balances with related parties are disclosed in Note 27.

Management also makes judgments regarding the recoverability of loans granted, probability of
their repayment and the amount of the impairment to be recognized in the consolidated financial

statements.
Allowance for impairment of financial assets

The Group regularly reviews its financial assets to assess for impairment. The Group’s most
significant exposure to credit risk relates to loans receivable and investments in debt securities of its
related party. As at 31 December 2017, the carrying value of loans receivable and investments in
debt securities of its related party were equal to USD 1 062 813 thousand (Note 13) and USD 94 208

thousand (Note 10), respectively.
Compliance with tax legislation

Russian tax, currency and customs legislation is subject to varying interpretations and changes
occurring frequently, Management’s interpretation of such legislation in applying it to business
transactions of the Group may be challenged by the relevant regional and federal authorities
enabled by law to impose fines and penalties. It is possible that the tax treatment of transactions
that have not been challenged in the past may be challenged. Fiscal periods remain open to
review by the tax authorities in respect of taxes for the three calendar years preceding the year
of tax review. Under certain circumstances reviews may cover longer periods.

Deferred tax assets are generally recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilized. Losses incurred in the previous periods are related to foreign currency
exchange losses incurred on revaluation of financial assets and liabilities of the Group. They are
not connected with operating activities, and the Group expects to receive profits in future,
subsequently, deferred tax assets can be settled. According to RF tax legislation tax losses are
carried forward and can reduce current tax base.

While the Group believes it has provided adequately for all tax liabilities based on its
understanding of the tax legisiation, the above facts may create additional financial risks for

the Group (see Note 29).
Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group reviews at each reporting date the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment to determine whether there is any indication that assets are impaired. This process
involves judgment in evaluating the cause for any possible reduction in value, including a number
of factors such as changes in current competitive conditions, expectations of growth in the
industry, increased cost of capital, changes in the future availability of financing, technological
obsolescence, discontinuance of service, current replacement costs and other changes in
circumstances that indicate impairment may exist.
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Whenever such indications exist management makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable
amount to ensure that it is not less than its carrying value. If the asset’s fair value is not readily
determinable or is less than asset’s carrying value plus costs of disposal, management necessarily
applies its judgment in determining the appropriate cash generating unit to be evaluated,
estimating the appropriate discount rate and the timing and value of the relevant cash flows for
the value-in-use calculation.

The Group carried out a review of recoverable amount of its property, plant and equipment at the
reporting date. For this purpose, the recoverable amount of railcars was determined based on
value in use calculations. Value in use calculation uses cash flow projections based on actual
operating results and business plan approved by management and corresponding discount rate
which reflects time value of money and risks associated with the Group’s operations. Key
assumptions management used in their value in use calculation are as follows:

e  The Group estimated its future cash flows for the period from 2018 to 2021, after which it
assumed a constant amount of cash flow in real terms for the remaining average useful life
of the existing assets;

o Cash inflow projections are based on the average daily contractual revenue, which is
calculated by management as average daily leasing rate for leased railcars;

° Prices for rail car repairs are expected to remain at a level of prices effective in 2017 in real
terms;

3 The pre-tax discount rate used in the calculations was equal to 8.26% in real terms. It has
been determined with reference to the estimated weighted average cost of capital of the
Group.

Values assigned to key assumptions and estimates used to measure the railcar’s value-in-use
amount are consistent with external sources of information and historic data. Management
believes that the values assigned to the key assumptions and estimates represent the most
realistic assessment of future trends.

No impairment was recognized and based on its analysis management believes that any
reasonably possible change in the key assumptions would not cause an impairment.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
Classification of the Group's operations under the railcar fleet replacement program

In the first half of 2017, the Group’s management decided to introduce a program to replace

the old fleet of railcars with the new generation of railcars. Accordingly, the Group acquired new
railcars during the year ended December 31, 2017 and leased out them under an operating lease
to replace a portion of the old railcar fleet that was sold during 2017. The program also assumes
that the Group will continue to sell old railcar fleet upon reaching a certain age and/or in case of
a favorable market price. The decisions to replace the disposed railcars with new ones will be
approved separately subject to the agreement with the lessees and the banks in case the railcars

are subject to pledge arrangements.

Thus, management believes the Group will regularly generate revenues from the sale of
previously leased old railcars in the normal course of business. In accordance with IAS 16 after
the approval of the decision to sell the railcars they were transferred to inventories at their
carrying value. Income from the sale of such railcars was included in the revenue line item of
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended
December 31, 2017, in particular the sales of railcars item of the respective disclosure (Note 20).
Expenses related to the disposal of the old railcar fleet were included in the cost of sale item of
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and disclosed in the

respective note (Note 21).

In preparing the consolidated statement of cash flows, the Group’s management considered
requirements of IAS 7, which specifies that cash payments made to acquisition assets held for
lease and subsequently held for sale are classified as cash flows from operating activities, and
cash proceeds from the lease and subsequent sale of such assets are also treated as cash flows
from operating activities. Accordingly, cash paid for the acquisition of railcars and received from
the sale of railcars under the railcar fleet replacement program are included in operating activities
in the consolidated statement of cash flows.
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5. RECLASSIFICATION OF COMPARATIVE INFORMATION

The Group adjusted comparative information for the year ended 31 December 2016. Adjustments
performed by the Group relate to reclassification of loans receivable from a related party from
current assets to non-current assets.

The table below discloses the effect of the retrospective adjustments in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016:

31 December 31 December
2016 2016
before after

reclassification  Reclassification reclassification

Non-current assets

Loans receivable 664 240 30 176 694 416
Current assets

Loans receivable 74 349 (30 176) 44 173
Total 738 589 - 738 589

Liquidity risk disclosure presented in Financial Risk Management note (Note 25) has also been
adjusted retrospectively in accordance with the terms of the loan agreement.

6. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARY

On 4 March 2016 the Group sold its subsidiary, TAP “Titran-Express” JSC, a railcar repair depot,
to an entity under common control.

In December 2015 the Group acquired the railcar repair depot with a purpose of using it for
modernization of own railcar fleet. In 2016 the parent company of the Group made a decision
that due to business reporting structure the railcar repair depot shall be separated from the
Group and therefore the Group sold it to an entity under common control for the same price as
the Group paid to acquire the subsidiary in December 2015.

The Group classified the disposed subsidiary as a component of the Group in accordance with IAS
5 "Long-term assets held for sale and discontinued operations” as TAP "Titran-Express” JSC was a
separate business segment. Respectively, operations of TAP "Titran-Express” JSC were presented
as discontinued operations as at 31 December 2016 and for the year ended 31 December 2016.

Assets and liabilities of disposed subsidiary as at the date of disposal were as follows:

Carrying value
as at 4 March

2016

Property and equipment 6120
Goodwill 33842
Intangible assets 80
Deferred tax assets 1493
Inventories 3508
Trade and other receivables 9 490
Prepayments to suppliers and other assets 508
VAT receivable 314
Cash and cash equivalents 384

55 739

Total assets
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Long-term loans and borrowings

Deferred tax liabilities

Short-term loans and borrowings

Advances received and other current liabilities
Trade and other payables

Total liabilities

Disposed net assets

Gain from disposal of the subsidiary was as follows:

Consideration to be received
Disposed net assets
Cumulative exchange gain in respect of the net assets of the subsidiary

Gain from disposal of the subsidiary

Profit for the year from discontinued operations was as follows:

Revenue
Other operating income

Expense, including:

- Cost of sales

- Selling, general and administrative expense
- Finance income

- Finance costs and foreign exchange loss

Loss before income tax
Income tax
Gain from disposal of the subsidiary

Profit for the year from discontinued operations

Net cash consideration received from disposal of the subsidiary was as follows:
Purchase consideration as at the date of the sale

Accounts receivable from the sale of the subsidiary

Cash and cash equivalents of the disposed subsidiary

Translation to presentation currency

Net cash outflow on disposal of the subsidiary

Cash flows from discontinued operations were as follows:

Net cash
- used in operating activities
- from financing activities

Net cash outflows

28

Carrying value
as at 4 March
2016

11 755
145

2 330
836
15 238

30 304

25 435

27 630
(25 435)
301

2 496

2016

979
136
1115

(2 366)
(2 087)
(47)

3
(236)

(1 252)
91

(1 160)
2 496

1336

27 630
(33 042)
(384)
5412

J
2016
(37)
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7.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in the carrying amounts of property and equipment were as follows:

Railcars Railcars Other
(leased) (not leased) fixed assets Total

COST
As at 1 January 2016 409 270 2 586 6 800 418 656
Additions 739 - 27 766
Disposal of subsidiary - - (6 277) (6 277)
Disposals - - (489) (489)
Transfer of wheelsets to inventory (167) - - (167)
Translation to presentation currency 82 549 521 (42) 83 028
As at 31 December 2016 492 391 3107 19 495 517
Railcars fleet replacement

(additions) 212 970 56 - 213 026
Additions 2616 - - 2616
Railcars fleet replacement (sales) (253 773) - - (253 773)
Disposals (937) (136) - (1073)
Translation to presentation currency 26 410 163 1 26 574
As at 31 December 2017 479 677 3 190 20 482 887
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
As at 1 January 2016 60 257 356 16 60 629
Depreciation charge 23 236 185 215 23 636
Disposal of a subsidiary - - (157) (157)
Disposals - - (25) (25)
Transfer of wheelsets to inventory (123) - - (123)
Translation to presentation currency 14 576 90 (30) 14 636
As at 31 December 2016 97 946 631 19 98 596

e —

Depreciation charge 20 803 208 - 21 011
Railcars fleet replacement

(depreciation) (64 989) - - (64 989)
Disposals (296) (33) - (329)
Translation to presentation currency 4 838 36 1 4 875
As at 31 December 2017 58 302 842 20 59 164
NET BOOK VALUE
1 January 2016 349 013 2 230 6 784 358 027
31 December 2016 394 445 2 476 - 396 921
31 December 2017 421 375 2 348 - 423 723

As at 31 December 2017 property and equipment with the net book value of USD 413 116

thousand was pledged as collateral for the Group’s borrowings (31 December 2016 -

USD 394 877 thousand) (Note 17).
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PREPAYMENTS FOR PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Prepayments for property and equipment comprised the following:

31 December 31 December

2017 2016
Prepayments made - «TH UWC LLC» 12 350 -
Prepayments made - «TVSZ JSC» 11 198 5294
Prepayments made - third parties 515 489
Allowance for impairment of third party prepayments (515) (489)
Total prepayments for property and equipment 23 548 5 294

Movement in the allowance for doubtful prepayments during the years ended 31 December 2017
and 2016 was as follows:

31 December 31 December

2017 2016
Balance at the beginning of the year 489 407
Translation to presentation currency 26 82
Balance at the end of the year 515 489

INVESTMENT IN THE JOINT VENTURE

The Group has the following investments in joint ventures:

Ownership and voting interest

Place of of the Group
Type of incorporation 31 December 31 December
Name investment and operation 2017 2016
MRC1520 LLC Joint Venture Moscow, Russia 50% 50%

In 2012 the Group entered into a joint venture agreement to establish MRC 1520 LLC with Mitsui
Corporation and acquired a 50% share in IMRCR Limited, the owner of MRC 1520 LLC. The joint
venture commenced its operations in 2013. The joint venture’s primary business is operating lease
and sale of railcars to transportation and manufacturing companies within Russia.

The Group’s share Iin profit of the joint venture for 2017 and 2016 recognized in the consolidated
statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income amounted to USD 367 thousand and
USD 138 thousand, respectively. Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's
material joint venture and reconciliation of the summarized financial information to the carrying
amount of the interest in the joint venture recognized in the consolidated financial statements is
set out below. The summarised financial information below represents amounts shown in the joint
venture’s financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS adjusted by the Group for equity

accounting purposes.
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Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Other current assets
Non-current assets
Deferred tax assets

Other current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Net assets of the joint venture
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in the joint venture

Carrying amount of the Group's interest in the joint venture

Revenue

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year

The above income for the year includes the following:

Depreciation and amortization
Interest income

Interest expense

Income tax expense

Forex differences

10. INVESTMENTS IN DEBT SECURITIES OF A RELATED PARTY

31 December 31 December
2017 2016

2279 728

80 80

1 1

9 882 10 084

52 -

(230) (134)

- (9)

12 064 10 750

50% 50%

6 032_ 5 375
2017 2016

2 237 2133

734 276

580 1782

1314 2 058
2017 2016

(725) (651)

- 30

- (137)

(188) (76)

(53) .

In 2017 the Group purchased 5 170 108 bonds for USD 89 686 thousand at the transaction date
and sold 100 087 bonds in the market. The bonds which were sold had a carrying value of

USD 1 681 thousand at the date of sale. The residual 5 199 397 bonds were recognized as
investments in debt securities of a related party as at 31 December 2017 equal to USD 94 208
thousand. These securities are classified as financial assets at FVTPL with the fair value
measurement identified as Level 1. None of these assets have been past due or impaired at the end
of the reporting period. The Group holds no collateral over these balances.

In 2016 the Group purchased 129 376 bonds for USD 2 110 thousand at the transaction date and
sold 1 683 800 bonds in the market. The bonds which had been sold had a carrying value of USD
22 959 thousand at the date of sale. The residual 129 376 bonds were recognized as investments in
debt securities of a related party as at 31 December 2016 equal to USD 2 145 thousand.

11. TRADE AND OTHER ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Trade and other receivables comprised the following:

Trade receivables from operating lease of railcars
Trade receivables from sale of railcars

Other accounts receivable

Accounts receivable from the sale of the subsidiary
Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable

Total trade and other accounts receivable

31

31 December 31 December
2017 2016
37 632 10 752
4 665 -
675 522
- 33 042
(689) (1274)
42 283 43 042
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As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, receivables from operating lease of railcars included
receivables due from the Group's related party Vostok 1520 LLC in the amount of USD 36 313
million and USD 8 589 million, respectively. In October 2017 the Group and Vostok 1520 LLC
signed an additional agreement to the principal lease agreement. According to the additional
agreement the credit period for Vostok 1520 LLC was increased up to 5 months. This led to
an increase in accounts receivable balance.

Management determines the allowance for impairment of receivables based on assessment of
customers credit quality, changes in industry trends, subsequent receipts and historical
experience. The ageing of receivables that are past due but not impaired was as follows:

31 December 31 December

2017 2016
Past due 31-90 days 169 5223
Past due 91-180 days 16 367 148
Past due 181-365 days 4427 251
Past due more than 365 days 456 -
Total 21 419 5 622

Movement in the allowance for doubtful accounts receivable during the years ended 31 December

2017 and 2016 was as follows:
31 December 31 December

2017 2016
Balance at the beginning of the year 1274 3709
Reversal of the allowance for doubtful accounts receivable (1 324) (2 880)
Impairment loss recognized on accounts receivable 679 -
Translation to presentation currency 60 445
Balance at the end of the year 689 1274

12. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments and other current assets comprised the following:
31 December 31 December

2017 2016
Bank guarantees and sureties 10 844 -
Advances paid to a related party (Note 27) 2 086 5113
Income tax receivable 1884 -
Prepayments to suppliers 269 692
Prepaid expenses 115 97
Allowance for doubtful prepayments = (591)
Total prepayments and other current assets 15 198 5311

Movement in the allowance for doubtful prepayments and other current assets during the years

ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 was as follows:
31 December 31 December

2017 2016
Balance at the beginning of the year 591 418
Use of allowance for doubtful prepayments (614) -
Reversal of the allowance for prepayments and other current assets - (69)
Impairment loss recognized on prepayments = 149
Translation to presentation currency 23 93
Balance at the end of the year - 591
32
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13. LOANS RECEIVABLE

Loans receivable comprised the following:

Interest rate, 31 December 31 December
Currency % 2017 2016
Loans granted to related parties
Secured
SZIZHK LLC RUB 11% 43 897 31 567
JSC Business Engineering RUB 11% 12 483 8 422
Unsecurred
Ovilleno Holdings LTD RUB 10% 289 426 97 518
Holme Services LTD usD 6.4% 198 157 161 363
Kay rate of the

TH UWC LLC RUB CBR *1.125 151 863 154 634
Holme Services LTD RUB 6%* 117 321 148 181
Rall1520 Tank Cars Cyprus Holding RUB 10% 59 957 29 825
Rail 1520 IP LTD RUB 10% 39 039 5213
TM-Energo RUB 11.5% 36 083 -
Restadiana Ventures LTD RUB 10% 24 921 11120
SZIPK LLC RUB 15.0% 23 874 19 714
IST-Capital RUB 11.5% 22 842 19 515
Pegadisa Management LTD RUB 10% 8 212 7 294
Re Test Cyprus LTD uUsD 6.4% 8 184 6 464
Deanroad LTD usD 6.4% 2 465 1188
Unicon 1520 LLC RUB 7% 2 000 -
Uniwagon North America usD 6.0% 1 865 79
UW Forge Co Ltd usD 6.4% 373 91
Rail1520 Cyprus Man Co LTD uUsD 6.4% 317 184
Re Test LTD usD 6.4% 65 66
Tikhvin Trial Centre for Railway LLC RUB 7.5% 33 31
Rail1520 Tank Cars BVI Holding

LTD usD 6.4% 30 18
Doland Business LTD usD 8% - 27 376
Kintonia Investments LTD RUB 6.4% - 4 811
United Wagon PLC usD 6.4% - 3343
Rail1520 BVI Man Co LTD uUsD 6.4% - 149
Doland Business LTD RUB 11% - 60
Total loans granted to related

parties 1 043 407 738 226
Loans granted to third parties
BLK-Proekt LLC RUB 10% 555 352
Tur LLC RUB 11% 65 11
Total loans receivable 1 044 027 738 589
Current 60 903 44 173
Non-current 983 124 694 416
Total loans receivable 738 589

— 1084027

* In July 2017 the Group amended terms of the RUR denominated loan agreement with one of the related parties.
Under the new conditions, the contractual rate was reduced from 11% to 6% per annum. The new rate was lower
than the market rate, which was estimated by the Group’s management at 10.4% at the date of the amendment.
Accordingly, the loan was recognized at fair value using the discount rate of 10.4%. The difference between the fair
value and nominal value of the loan (USD 49 347 thousand) was recognized in additional paid-in capital.

In 2017 and 2016 ICT Finance Ltd issued guarantees in respect of loans issued to SZIZhK CJSC
and Business Engineering CISC. According to the guarantees ICT Finance Ltd is liable to make
payments under the loan agreements in case the borrowers fail to fulfill their obligations to pay

the debt.
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14. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

15.

16.

Cash and cash equivalents comprised the following:

31 December 31 December

2017 2016
Current accounts in RUB 1 365 817
Short-term bank deposits in RUB 594 12 993
Current accounts in EUR 3 1
Current accounts in USD 2 1
Total cash and cash equivalents 1964 13 812

As at 31 December 2017 the Group placed cash on overnight deposits in order to receive interest
income, the interest rate on such deposits varied from 5% to 8% per annum.

As at 31 December 2016 the Group placed cash on overnight deposits in order to receive interest
income, the interest rate on such deposits varied from 5% to 9.35% per annum.

Restricted cash

Under the credit facility agreement concluded between the Group’s subsidiary and Alfa-Bank JSC
a pledge agreement was signed in respect of the bank collateral account. In accordance with

the terms of the agreement, the collateral account shall accumulate proceeds from the railcar
lease services under a number of the Group’s lease contracts. The use of funds deposited in

the collateral account is only possible for repayment of the short-term portion of the loan from

Alfa-Bank JSC.

As at December 31, 2017, the amount of restricted cash accumulated on the collateral bank
account of USD 13 924 thousand was included in current assets in the consolidated statement of

financial position.

SHARE CAPITAL AND ADDITIONAL PAID-IN CAPITAL

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016 the Company’s issued and registered share capital amounted
to USD 1 thousand. The share capital was fully paid as at the reporting date.

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the additional paid-in capital of the Group consisted of the
contributions made by the sole shareholder of the Group.

SHORT-TERM BANK DEPOSITS

Short-term bank deposits, including accrued, but not paid interest, comprised:

31 December 31 December

Currency Rate, % 2017 2016
Promsvyazbank (Cyprus) RUB 9% 87 469 -
Rigensis Bank (Latvia) RUB 10.65% - 84 636
Total short-term bank deposits 87 469 84 636

As at 31 December 2017 the Group placed free cash in the amount of RUB 5 000 000 thousand
(USD 86 805 thousand as at the reporting date) to bank deposit with a purpose of receiving
interest income from Promsvyazbank (Cyprus), at an annual interest rate 9.00 % and maturity on
14 June 2018. As at 31 December 2017 interest accrued, but not paid comprised USD 663
thousand.
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17.

As at 31 December 2016 the Group placed free cash in the amount of RUB 5 000 000 thousand
(USD 82 441 thousand as at the reporting date) to bank deposit with a purpose of receiving
interest income from Rigensis Bank (Latvia), a related party, at an annual interest rate 10.65 %
and maturity on 22 June 2017, As at 31 December 2016 interest accrued, but not paid comprised
USD 2 195 thousand.

LOANS AND BORROWINGS

Interest
rate, % (at
Interest 31 December 31 December 31 December
Maturity Rate 2017) 2017 2016
At amortised cost,
including:
RUB-denominated
7.05%-
LLC "UWC Finance” 2021-2024 Fixed 14.2% 622 684 508 203
JSC “Alfa-Bank” 2023 Fixed 12.7% 329 744 316 066
7.32%*-
PJSC "RPC UWC” 2021-2027 Fixed 13.9% 254 026 74 364
LLC "TH uwcC” 2027 Fixed 5.9%"* 39 001 -
LLC "TH uwcC” 2025 Fixed 16% - 233 531
MosPrime
PJSC “Otkritie FC Bank” 2017 Floating 3M+4% - 94 036
JSC "Gazprombank” 2022 Fixed 12.15% - 32 937
United Wagon Plc 2018 Fixed 6.5% - 136
USD-denominated
LLC “TH UWC" 2025 Fixed 6% 425 784 =
Doland Business Ltd 2017 Fixed 8% - 319
Total loans and
borrowings 1671 239 1259 592
Less: current portion (76 545) (135 536)
Long-term loans and
borrowings 1 594 694 1 124 056

* In 2017, the Group changed the terms of the loan agreements with LLC "TH UWC” and PJSC "RPC UWC". Under the
new conditions, the interest rates were reduced from 9% (loan received from LLC "TH UWC") to 5.9% per annum and
from 13.9% (loan received from PJSC "RPC UWC") to 7.32%. The new rates were lower than the market rates,
estimated by the Group’s management in 2017 at 10.4%. The Group derecognized the liabilities at 9% and 13.9%
and recognized new ones at amortized cost using the market rate of 10.4%. The difference between the fair value
and nominal value of the loans (USD 36 137 thousand) was recognized in additional paid-in capital.

Security on loans and borrowings

Under the above borrowing agreements, the Group has provided the following pledges as at
31 December 2017:

o Property and equipment with carrying value of USD 413 116 (Note 7);

° Shares in subsidiaries (Rail 1520 LLC (100%), Rail 1520 Cyprus Ltd (100%)).

Under the above borrowing agreements, the Group has provided the following pledges as at
31 December 2016:

° Property and equipment with carrying value of USD 394 877 thousand (Note 7);

° Shares in subsidiaries (Rail 1520 LLC (100%), Rail 1520 Service LLC (100%), Rail 1520
Cyprus LTD (100%), Rail 1520 (BVI) LTD (100%))
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Repayment schedule

The repayment schedule of loans and borrowings for five years ending December 31, 2022 and
thereafter is as follows:

Amount to
maturity (w/o
effect of

discounting)
2018 76 545
2019 71942
2020 82 410
2021 332 630
2022 128 629
Thereafter 1013 870
Total 1 706 026

Reconciliation of financial liabilities

The change of financial liabilities including cash and non-cash movements is presented below.
Liabilities arising from financial activities are those for which cash flows were or future cash flows
will be classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

activities.
Cash flows Non-cash changes
from Foreign Other non- Net
January 1, financial exchange Effect from Translation cash interest December
2017 activities difference discounting difference _changes _payments _31, 2017
Borrowings from

related parties 816 553 481 380 (16 469) (36 137) 45 450 34 154" 16 564 1 341 495
Bank loans 443 039 (133 380) - - 22 609 769 (3 293) 329 744
Finance lease - 2 457 - - 34 100 - 2591
Other borrowings - 28 (27) = = (1) s

1 259 592 350 485 ‘16 496| 36 137 68 093 35 023 13 270 1673 830
Erm=—=————— p—e=————— I—— o ——————————————— ——— —— ]
* In 2017, the Group acquired the rights to claim debt from related party TM-Energo (Note 13).

Covenants

Under the terms of the loan agreements, the Group is required to comply with a number of
covenants and restrictions, including maintenance of certain financial ratios and other non-
financial conditions. Non-compliance with these covenants may result in negative consequences
for the Group, including declaration of default.

Compliance with covenants during the year ended December 31, 2017

As at 31 December 2017 none of the Group’s subsidiaries breached the covenants. The Group
was in compliance with all financial and non-financial covenants as of the year end date.

Compliance with covenants during the year ended December 31, 2016

As at December 31, 2016 one of the Group’s subsidiaries breached an EBIT to Interest paid
covenant set out by Alfa-Bank JSC. The covenant is calculated based on statutory financial
statements of the borrower on a quarterly basis. In April 2017 after the decision of the bank'’s
credit committee, an additional agreement was signed, which moved the first compliance period
from the fourth quarter 2016 to the first quarter 2017. During the first quarter of 2017 the Group
complied with this covenant and during 2017 the Group was in compliance with all of its existing
covenants according to this loan agreement.

Available credit facilities

There were no unused credit facilities as at 31 December 2017 and 2016.
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18. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade and other payables comprised the following:

31 December 31 December

2017 2016
Payables for property and equipment 17 915 40
Taxes payable 15 586 7 059
Trade and other accounts payable 8 179 6 251
Total trade and other payables 41 680 13 350

As at 31 December 2017 payables for property and equipment include USD 17 873 thousand
payable for railcars from the related party supplier TH UWC LLC. The supply agreement stipulates

lagging of a payment for 180 days starting from the date of delivery.

19. ADVANCES RECEIVED

Advances received comprised the following:

31 December 31 December

2017 2016
Advances received for goods (railcars) 35 621 -
Operating lease prepayments 2 208 2 676
Other advances received 383 -
Total advances received 38 212 2 676

20. REVENUE

Revenue of the Group from continuing operations comprised the following (excluding finance

income - Note 23):

2017 2016
Continuing operations
Sales of goods (railcars) 250 945 -
Operating lease of railcars 86 358 64 378
Sales of spare parts 289 536
Other revenue 727 128
Total revenue 338 319 65 042

In the first half of 2017, the Group’s management decided to replace the old fleet of railcars

previously leased by the Group with the new innovative railcars. Accordingly 7 379 railcars with
a carrying value of USD 188 784 thousand (Notes 7, 21) were transferred from property, plant
and equipment to inventories and sold to third parties. The largest customer was Federal Freight

Company JSC.

The total amount of revenue received by the Group from the sale of these cars was included in
the sales of railcars item and amounted to USD 242 470 thousand for the year ended December

2017.
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21. DIRECT EXPENSES

Direct expenses of the Group from continuing operations comprised the following:

Continuing operations

Direct expenses associated with operating lease
Depreciation of railcars

Maintenance and repairs

Property tax

Insurance expenses

Other

Direct expenses associated with sale of railcars and spare parts

Net book value of railcars sold with railcar fleet replacement
Cost of railcars sold
Cost of spare parts and castings sold

Total direct expenses

22. SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

2017 2016
21 011 23421

6 831 4 762
2118 8 284

140 122

404 363

188 784 -

7 059 -

272 945

226 619 37 897

Selling, general and administrative expenses of the Group from continuing operations comprised

the following:
Continuing operations

Management fees

Consulting and legal fees

Railcars disposition information

Charge / (reversal) of allowance for doubtful accounts receivable
Allowance for obsolete inventory

Transportation costs for the delivery of railcars to the buyer
Other

Total selling, general and administrative expenses

23. FINANCE COSTS AND FINANCE INCOME

Finance costs of the Group from continuing operations comprised the following:

Continuing operations

Interest expense on loans and borrowings

Cost of guarantees and sureties

Unwinding of discount (financial liabilities)
Commission for early repayment of loan (Note 17)
Bank charges and commissions

Government grants

Total finance costs

2017 2016
2 569 3304
2142 444
820 568
679 (2 768)
493 s
272 -
295 512
7 270 2 060
2017 2016
165 304 132721
11 503 7421
878 C
550 5076
92 323
= (463)
178 327 145 078

The Group receives subsidies from the Ministry of Industry and Trade of the Russian Federation,
granted within the state-run program on partial compensation of the interest payable on bank
loans used for acquisition of innovative railcars to the extent that these railcars are compliant

with certain requirements.
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24,

Finance income of the Group from continuing operations comprised the following:

2017 2016
Continuing operations
Interest income from loans granted 83 408 45 344
Interest income on deposits, cash and equivalents 10 724 4 544
Finance income from sale of bonds 3991 336
Interest income from finance lease 621 581
Unwinding of discount (financial assets) 86 -
Total finance income 98 830 50 805
INCOME TAXES
The components of income tax expense comprised the following:

2017 2016
Current tax expense (19 952) (2 735)
Deferred tax (expense)/ benefit (2 735) 1 448
Total income tax expense ‘22 687! ‘l 287!

As at 31 December 2017 the income tax rates applicable to the entities of the Group were as
follows:

. Russian companies - 20%;
. Cyprus companies - 12.5%;
. BVI companies - 0%.

Below is a2 reconciliation of income tax calculated using the income tax rate effective in the
Russian Federation and the actual income tax recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income:

2017 2016

Profit/ (loss) before income tax 29 191 (92 832)
Theoretical income tax expense/benefit calculated at 20% (5838) 18 566
Tax effects of items which are not deductible or assessable for taxation

purposes:
Share of profit of the joint venture 73 28
Effect of different income tax rates and taxation rules applicable to

foreign subsidiaries of the Group (10 935) (9 740)
Unrecognized tax losses of foreign subsidiaries of the Group for the

year (5832) (9512)
Income tax accrued for previous years - (469)
Other items (155) (160)

Income tax expense ‘22 687! ‘1 2872

Deferred taxes reflect the net tax effect of temporary differences between the carrying amount of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for tax purposes.

39

217



RAIL HOLDING LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
(in thousands of US dollars, unless otherwise indicated)

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016 net deferred tax liabilities arose from the following:

2017 2016
Tax losses carried forward in Russian subsidiaries of the Group 2919 2 875
Provisions 338 126
Trade and other accounts receivable 240 437
Property and equipment (6 365) (3 275)
Commissions on borrowings (163) (247)
Other 254 78
Net deferred tax liabilities (2777) (6)

Starting from 2017 the Group can offset only 50% of taxable profit of each Russian subsidiary
against tax loss carry forwards accumulated by the subsidiary and the Group’s tax loss carry
forwards have no date of expiration (after amendments to the Russian Tax Code effective 1

January 2017).

The movements in deferred tax were as follows:

2017 2016
Deferred tax balance as at the beginning of the year, net (6) (87)
Deferred tax benefit (2735) 1448
Deferred tax expense from discontinued operations - (1 348)
Currency translation reserve (36) (19)
Deferred tax balance as at the end of the year (3 777) (6)

The following amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017 and 2016:

2017 2016
Deferred tax assets 2481 3478
Deferred tax liabilities (5 258) (3 484)
Net deferred tax position (2777) (6)

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings
of subsidiaries are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements as the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

25. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk management is being carried out by the Group in relation to financial (credit, market,
currency, liquidity and interest rate), operating and legal risks. The main purpose of financial risk
management is to determine risk limits and to further uphold the limits determined. Operating
and legal risk management shall provide reliable performance of internal policy and procedures of

the Group to minimize these risks.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to the interest rate risk because entities in the Group borrow funds at both
fixed and variable interest rates. The Group manages the risk by maintaining an appropriate mix
between fixed and variable rate borrowings.
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The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for
floating rate borrowings at the reporting date. The analysis assumed that the balance at the end
of the period remained unchanged during the reporting period. A 3% increase or decrease is used
when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

As of 31 December 2017, the Group had not loans and borrowings with variable interest rate.

If interest rates had been 3% higher /(lower) and all other variables were held constant during
2016, the Group's profit for 2016 would (decrease )/ increase by USD 2 821 thousand.

Credit risk management

The Group is exposed to credit risk, which is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will
fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party to incur a financial loss. Exposure to
credit risk arises as a result of the Group’s transactions with counterparties giving rise to financial

assets.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk by class of assets is reflected in the carrying
amounts of financial assets as follows:

31 December 31 December

2017 2016

Financial assets

Loans receivable 1 044 027 738 589
Short-term bank deposits 87 469 84 636
Investment in debt securities of a related party 94 208 2 145
Trade and other receivables 42 283 43 042
Finance lease receivables 3727 3834
Restricted cash 13924 -
Cash and cash equivalents 1 964 13 812
Total 1 287 602 886 058

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting
in financial loss to the Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy
counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral, where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the
risk of financial loss from defaults. The Group only transacts with entities that are rated the
equivalent of investment grade and above. This information is supplied by independent rating
agencies where available and, if not available, the Group uses other publicly available financial
information and its own trading records to rate its major customers. The Group's exposure and
the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate value of
transactions concluded is spread amongst approved counterparties. Credit exposure is controlled
by counterparty limits that are reviewed and approved by the risk management committee
annually.

Accounts receivable from operating lease of railcars are represented for more than 85% by
receivables from Vostok 1520 LLC.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are bank with stable credit-
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies. Major part of free cash funds of the
Group (USD 87 469 thousand) are placed on a bank deposit in Promsvyazbank which was rated
by the world rating agencies as developing bank with positive outlook.

The Group has a significant concentration of credit risk in regards to loans provided to Ovilleno
Holdings LTD, Holme Services LTD and TH UWC LLC related parties of the Group.
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Currency risk

Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions or recognized assets or
liabilities are denominated in the currency different from the functional currency of each entity in
the Group. During 2017 and 2016 the Group entered into certain transactions denominated in USD
and EUR.

The table below summarizes the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at the
reporting date relative to the functional currency of the respective entities of the Group:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Monetary Monetary Net Monetary Monetary Net
financial financial monetary financial financial monetary

assets liabilities position assets _ liabilities _ position

usb 211 457 425784 (214 326) 201 040 318 200 722

EUR 4 668 = 4 668 1 = 1

Total 216 125 425 784 (209 658) 201 041 318 200723
L — T

The table below details the Group’s sensitivity to weakening of the Russian Ruble against US
Dollar and Euro by 20%, all other variables being held constant. The analysis was applied to
monetary items at the reporting dates denominated in respective currencies.

USD - impact EUR — impact
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2017 2016 2017 2016
(Loss) / gain (42 865) 40 144 934

The strengthening of RUB in relation to the same currencies by the same percentage will produce
an equal and opposite effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Group to that shown
above.

As at 31 December 2017 the Group does not have formal arrangements to hedge foreign
exchange risks of the Group's operations. The Management monitors all changes in the exchange
rates and does not expect any material negative fluctuations in the medium-term.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign
exchange risk because the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to settle all liabilities as they fall due. The
Group's liquidity position Is carefully monitored and managed by the treasury function. Management
controls current liquidity based on expected cash flows and revenue receipts through establishing
and maintaining a cash fund sufficient to cover its contractual obligations for the period of three to
six upcoming months. Such funds are normally kept as highly liquid short-term bank deposits, and
are available on demand. In addition, the Group'’s policy is to continually maintain a diversified
portfolio of open credit lines with reputable banks, which serve to secure for the Group a stable ad
hoc borrowing capability.
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The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities.
The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based
on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.

Less than
12 months 1-5 years Over 5 years Total
31 December 2017
Non-interest bearing 26 094 - ~ 26 094
Finance lease liabilities 315 2 276 - 2 591
Fixed interest rate instruments 229 053 1 184 408 1180 431 2 593 892
255 462 1 186 684 1180 431 2 622 577
Less than
12 months 1-5 years Over 5 years Total
31 December 2016
Non-interest bearing 6 251 = - 6 251
Variable interest rate instruments 107 895 - - 107 895
Fixed interest rate instruments 184 446 962 836 940 445 2 087 727
298 592 962 836 940 445 2 201 873

The following table details the Group’s expected maturity for its non-derivative financial assets.
The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial
assets including interest that will be earned on those assets. The inclusion of information on non-

derivative financial assets is necessary in order to understand the Group’s liquidity risk

management as the liquidity is managed on a net asset and liability basis.

Less than
12 months 1-5 years Over 5 years Total
31 December 2017
Non-interest bearing 56 208 - - 56 208
Variable interest rate instruments 123 512 166 400 - 289 912
Fixed interest rate instruments 182 987 487 072 769 124 1439 183
Finance lease receivables 940 3762 1293 5 995
363 647 657 234 770 417 1791 298
Less than
12 months 1-5 years Over 5 years Total
31 December 2016
Non-interest bearing 43 042 - - 43 042
Variable interest rate instruments 2 145 - - 2 145
Fixed interest rate instruments 173 947 418 765 637 800 1230 512
Finance lease receivables 893 3572 2121 6 586
220 027 422 337 639 921 1282 285
— =1
Net (asset) / liability positions
as at 31 December 2017 (108 185) 529 450 410 014 831 279
Net liability positions
as at 31 December 2016 78 565 540 499 300 524 919 588

Capital management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximizing the return to stakeholders through optimization of the debt and equity balance within
the limits imposed by its providers or finance. The capital structure of the Group consists of net
debt (borrowings as detailed in Note 17, offset by cash and cash equivalents balances) and equity
and reserves.
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Group's financial assets and liabilities at the reporting dates comprised the following:
31 December 31 December

2017 2016

Financial assets

Loans receivable 1 044 027 738 589
Short term deposits 87 469 84 636
Trade and other receivables 42 283 43 042
Restricted cash 13 924 -
Finance lease receivables 3727 3 834
Total loans and receivables 1 090 037 785 465
Cash and cash equivalents 1 964 13 812
Total cash and cash equivalents 1 964 13 812
Investments in debt securities of a related party 94 208 2 145
Total financial assets at FVTPL 94 208 2 145
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Loans and borrowings 1671 239 1 259 592
Trade and other payables 26 094 6 291
Financial lease liabilities 2 591 -
Total financial liabilities at amortised cost 1 699 924 1 265 883

Fair value of financial instruments that are not measured at fair value on a recurring
basis but for those fair value disclosures are required

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s loans and borrowings as at 31 December
2017 and 2016 were presented as follows:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
Loans and borrowings” 1671 239 1720 145 1 259 592 1 191 461
1671 239 1720 145 1 259 592 1191 461

* For the fair value estimation the Group used 10.43% as market rate of cost of debt for RUB and 5.99% as
market rate of cost of debt for USD.

Inputs of Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy were used to measure the fair value of loans and
borrowings received from third parties and related parties.

The fair value of financial liabilities was determined in accordance with generally accepted
valuation techniques based on a discounted cash flow analysis, with the most significant inputs
being the discount rate that reflects the weighted average interest rate on loans (in RUB and with
maturities of over 3 years) received by non-financial organizations from credit institutions.

Fair value of accounts receivable, short-term loans granted, short-term bank deposits, restricted
cash and cash and cash equivalents corresponds to their carrying value. For assessment of fair
value for long-term loans granted to third and related parties, inputs from Level 2 of fair value
hierarchy were used. Fair value was estimated based on discounted cash flows with key

assumption - market rate.

As at 31 December 2017 fair value of loans granted was greater than the carrying value by
USD 14 598 thousand.
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27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Parties are generally considered to be related if the parties are under common control or if one
party has the ability to control the other party or can exercise significant influence or joint control
over the other party in making financial or operational decisions, as defined by IAS 24 “Related Party
Disclosures”. In considering each possible related party relationship attention is directed to the
substance of the relationship not merely the legal form. Related parties may enter into
transactions which unrelated parties might not, and transactions between related parties may not
be effected on the same terms, conditions and amounts as transactions between unrelated
parties.

The Group enters into various purchases and service transactions with related parties, such as
purchase of railcars and management services provided by the management company. In
addition, the Group enters into financing and investing transactions with related parties.

The nature of the related party relationships for those related parties, with whom the Group
entered into significant transactions or had significant balances outstanding at 31 December 2017
are: the parent, entities with significant influence over the Group, entities under common control
with the Group, associates and joint ventures of RPC UWC.

The balances with other related parties as at 31 December 2016 includes balances with PTK-
Holding JSC and balances with its subsidiaries Nitrokhimprom LLC and Vostok 1520 LLC. Vostok
1520 LLC is a former subsidiary of RPC UWC that was disposed in November 2016. In 2017 for
the purposes of this disclosure due to the acquisition of 19.9% shares in PTK-Holding JSC by RPC
UWC, transactions and balances with Nitrokhimprom LLC and Vostok 1520 LLC are presented

as transactions with associates and joint ventures of RPC UWC.

The Group had the following balances with its related parties:
31 December 31 December

2017 2016
Prepayments for property and equipment
Entities under common control 23 548 5294
Loans to related parties
Entities under common control 932 028 678 523
Entities with significant influence over the Group 111 379 59 703
Investments in debt securities of a related party
Entities under common control 94 208 2 145
Short-term bank deposits
Entities with significant influence over the Group - 84 636
Trade and other accounts receivable
Associates and joint ventures of RPC UWC 36 313 -
Entities under common control 616 33 319
Other related parties - 8 249
Advances paid to a related party
Entities with significant influence over the Group 17 104 -
Entities under common control 2 086 5113
TOTAL ASSETS 1217 282 876 982
Trade and other accounts payable
Entities under common control 25 997 4 556
Associates and joint ventures of RPC UWC 21 -
Parent company - 1387
Advances received from a related party
Associates and joint ventures of RPC UWC 33 889 -
Entities under common control 1732 -
Borrowings
Entities under common control 1087 470 742 191
Parent company 254 025 74 363
TOTAL LIABILITIES 1403 134 822 497
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The amounts outstanding are unsecured (expect as disclosed in Note 13) and will be settled in
cash. There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related party accounts

receivable or payable. No expense has been recognized in the current or prior periods for bad or
doubtful debts in respect of the amounts owed by related parties. The Group’s transactions with its
related parties were as follows:

2017 2016
Purchase of property and equipment
Entities under common control (215 036) (738)
Associates and joint ventures of RPC UWC (122) -
Cost of railcars for resale
Entities under common control (7 059) -

Cost of spare parts
Entities under common control (272) (648)

Other related parties (298)
Maintenance, repair and service expenses

Entities under common control (2 468) (2 489)
Management fee

Parent company (2 276) (3 306)
Cost of guarantees and sureties

Entities with significant influence over the Group (11 503) (7 421)
Other expenses

Entities under common control (295) -

Revenue - operating lease of railcars

Associates and joint ventures of RPC UWC 45 532 -

Other related parties - 18 318

Revenue - sales of railcars

Entities under common control 161 -

Revenue - sales spare parts

Entities under common control 289 536

Interest income

Entities under common control 73 295 42 658

Entities with significant influence over the Group 18 321 7 162

Interest expenses

Entities under common control (91 497) (77 471)
Entities with significant influence over the Group (18 590) -

Parent company (8 844) (1 025)
Gain / (loss) on exchange differences, net

Entities under common control 8 155 (21 950)
Entities with significant influence over the Group 749 (2 314)

Related party debt forgiveness
Entities under common control (5 227) -

Compensation of key management personnel

In 2017 and 2016 management of the Group was largely conducted by a management company,
a related party to the Group, under 2 management fee structure. Total remuneration of the
management company is disclosed in the table above under the Management fee line.
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28.

29.

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

Operating leases relate to the railcars owned by the Group with lease terms of between 5 to 10
years, with an option to extend at the discretion of the lessee. All operating lease contracts contain
market review clauses in the event of changes in market conditions. The lease contracts do not
contain step up rent increases during the lease period. The lessee does not have an option to
purchase the railcar at the expiry of the lease period.

Future minimum lease payments to the Group under non-cancellable operating leases are as

follows:
31 December 31 December

2017 2016
Not later than 1 year 90 968 72 591
Later than 1 year and not longer than 5 years 261 454 203 378
Later than 5 years 29 537 68 037
381 959 344 006

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Commitments for capital expenditure

At 31 December 2017, the Group had no commitments to acquire property and equipment except
for those which were 100% prepaid.

Operating environment

Because Russia produces and exports large volumes of oil and gas, its economy is particularly
sensitive to the price of oil and gas on the world market.

During 2017 the oil and gas prices remained low. The management cannot reasonably estimate
future price changes and the impact they may have on the financial position of the Group.

Starting from 2014, sanctions have been imposed in several packages by the U.S. and the E.U.
on certain Russian officials, businessmen and companies. These sanctions remained in 2017.
Moreover, downgrade of Russia’s long-term foreign currency sovereign rating by international
credit agencies has led to reduced access of the Russian businesses to international capital and
export markets, increased inflation, economic recession and other negative economic

consequences.

The impact of further economic developments on future operations and financial position of
the Group is at this stage difficult to determine.

Taxation

The Russian business legislation continues to be subject to rapid changes. Management's
Interpretation of such legislation as applied to the activity of the Group may be challenged by

the relevant regional and federal authorities. Recent events suggest that the tax authorities are
taking a more assertive position in their interpretation of the legislation and as a result, it is
possible that transactions and activities that have not been challenged in the past may be
challenged. Fiscal periods generally remain open to tax audit by the authorities in respect of taxes
for three calendar years proceeding the year of tax audit. Under certain circumstances reviews
may cover longer periods. Management believes that it has provided adequately for tax liabilities
based on its interpretations of tax legislation. However, the relevant authorities may have
differing interpretations, and the effects on the financial statements could be significant.

The Group identified possible contingent tax liabilities for the three-year period ended December

31, 2017. Management estimates that the Group’s possible exposure in relation to
the aforementioned tax risks will not exceed 3% of the Group's total revenue for the year ended

December 31, 2017.
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30.

Legal proceedings

From time to time the Group has been and continues to be the subject of legal proceedings and
adjudications, none of which has had, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse impact
on the Group. Management believes that the resolution of such matters will not have a material
impact on the Group’s financial position or operating results.

Environmental issues

The enforcement of environmental regulation in the Russian Federation is evolving and

the enforcement posture of government authorities is continually being reconsidered. The Group
periodically evaluates its obligations under environmental regulations. As obligations are
determined, they are recognized immediately. Potential liabilities, which might arise as a result of
changes in existing regulations, civil litigation or legislation, cannot be estimated but could be
material. In the current enforcement climate under existing legislation, management believes that
there are no significant liabilities for environmental damage. The Group undertook monitoring of
the environment at the construction site and within the limits of its impact on the natural
environment at an environmental survey stage. No adverse impact of the dump operations on

the environment has been found.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In March 2018, at the extraordinary shareholders meeting of PISC "RPC UWC" (hereinafter -
“"RPC UWC"), it was decided to approve a number of significant transactions, the total amount of
which exceeded 50% of the assets carrying amount of RPC UWC. In accordance with the Russian
legislation, the shareholders who did not participate in the meeting received the right to demand
from the RPC UWC the redemption of all or part of the shares that they owned. A number of
shareholders executed this right with charter’s capital share equaled to 10% and the amount of
claims limited to 8.2 billion rubles.

Despite the fact that these transactions were initially qualified as large, the management of RPC
UWC considers that their approval is the responsibility of the General Director, who representing
the sole executive body of RPC UWC. As a result, the extraordinary shareholders’ meeting had no
authority to approve the transactions. In May 2018, the General Director of RPC UWC filed a claim
in the Arbitration court of Moscow to declare invalidity of the shareholder’s decision, which will
ultimately result in cancellation of the redemption claims.

As of the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements, there is no final court
decision that either could determine the claims of PISC "RPC UWC" shareholders unfounded or
oblige RPC UWC to buy out the required number of shares. If the court obliges PISC “RPC UWC”
to buy back its own shares in the amount disclosed above, RPC UWC management may need
additional financing to purchase them, which may require selling of the Group’s assets.
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